Of Counsel: RICHARD J. OVELMEN

One Herald Plaza Miami, Florida 33103 (305) 350-2204

E. L. MENDENHALL, INC., 926 Cherry Street, Kansas City, Mo. 64106, (816) 421-3030

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action for review of the affirmance by the Second District Court of Appeal of a \$380,000 jury verdict in favor of Respondents Leonard D. Levin ("Levin") and General Energy Devices, Inc. ("GED") in a defamation suit involving a matter of real public or general concern. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution and Rules 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v) and 9.125 of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure because the Second District certified that the negligence standard of liability it approved in affirming the jury verdict is a matter of "great public importance". 7 Fla.L.W. 2549, 2550 (Fla. 2d DCA Dec. 1, 1982). Petitioners, who were the defendants in the trial court, are The Tribune Company, publisher of *The Tampa Tribune*, Paul Hogan, the *Tribune's* Managing Editor, Joseph Registrato, its City Editor, and William Sloat, the reporter who wrote the two articles from which the suit arose (the "Articles"). (Petitioners will be collectively referred to as the "*Tribune*"). Levin and GED were the plaintiffs. The jury awarded only compensatory damages to Levin and both compensatory and punitive damages to GED. The trial judge struck the punitive damages award. Both sides appealed, and the Second District affirmed. After timely petitions for rehearing by both sides were denied, this appellate proceeding was commenced.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Subject Of The Articles—A Matter Of Real , Public Or General Concern

By the late 1970's, with the country entering a deep recession in part because of its energy problems, the sources, costs, and politics of energy had become a priority of most Americans. Solar energy was viewed as a solution to prospective energy shortages. The President urged its development, Congress passed tax incentives to induce Americans to use it, and local power companies endorsed it. And inventive entrepreneurs sought to exploit it. One of those entrepreneurs was Levin, a Clearwater resident who in October 1978 had pled guilty to two counts of lying to the SEC in connection with an investigation of a defunct franchise operation called "Wicker World" and whose prior ventures in National Automotive Industries, Inc. and "Wicker World" resulted in bankruptcy and a SEC consent decree (App. 1; R. 1289, 1306-1307). Levin formed GED to manufacture solar heating equipment and established a distribution system for its products, which also

led directly to the bankruptcy court with creditors getting fifteen cents on the dollar (R. 1445; App. 43).

The Articles

On May 14, 1979, the *Tribune's* reporter, William Sloat, learned of GED's Chapter 11 petition in federal bankruptcy court in Tampa and began preparation of the Articles. After an investigation which included review of the bankruptcy proceedings and interviews of all the major figures involved in GED's problems, Sloat prepared the Articles, which were edited by City Editor Registrato and published on June 10, 1979. The Articles were of real public or general concern by virtue of the subject matter (*i.e.*, the fortunes of a new company in the solar energy business formed by an individual with prior SEC, criminal, and bankruptcy problems) and the local aspects of GED's operations (App. 1-5).

The 770.01 Notice

On October 11, 1979, five months after the Articles were published, Levin and GED wrote the *Tribune*, purportedly as the condition precedent to suit required by Section 770.01, Florida Statutes. At trial and in the Second District there was some controversy over whether Levin and GED had properly identified, sued upon, and recovered upon statements of fact actually appearing in the Articles.¹ The statements as published in the Articles, as

^{1.} Throughout this case the *Tribune* insisted that Levin and GED could not base their action on statements not contained in the statutory notice (R. 1487-1497, 1622-1625, 2207-2209, 2466-2478). The *Tribune's* requested Jury Instruction No. 4 to that effect was refused by the trial court (R. 2475-2479), although the court indicated at the charge conference that the statute would be read to the jury (R. 2475, 2477). However, when the *Tribune's* counsel stated the requirements of the statute in the course of final argument to the jury, he was stopped by the lower court and cautioned that if he referred to the statute again in argument, its provisions would not be read as a part of the instructions to the jury (R. 2620-2622).

well as the statements alleged to be in the Articles and on which the \$380,000 award was based, are set forth below:

What the Notice Stated the Articles Said

(1) GED had "swindled" the Southern National Bank out of \$12,000 of goods by issuing a "check that bounced";

(2) GED through the efforts of the undersigned, "sold about 250 distributorships," receiving an average of \$11,000 in return for "an exclusive license to sell GED solar products in his (the distributor's) territory";

Text of the Articles

A Birmingham, Ala., bank has filed suit in Tampa federal court claiming GED swindled it out of \$12,000 worth of solar heating material by moving the goods to Florida, then paying the bank with a check that bounced.

Through an aggressive marketing effort, the company had sold about 250 distributorships, at prices ranging from \$5,000 -\$18,000, in at least 38 states. Each distributorship received an exclusive license to sell GED solar products in its territory. Levin said the average cost of a distributorship was \$11,000, meaning the firm took in about \$2.8 million.

(3) GED, through the efforts of the undersigned,
"had sought protection...
from more than 100 of its distributors, in federal bankruptcy court";

But today the distributor network is in disarray, and GED, admitting severe financial problems, has sought protection from its creditors, including

What the Notice Stated the Articles Said	Text of the Articles
	more than 100 of its distributors, in federal bankruptcy court in Tampa.
(4) distributors had "paid in advance and hadn't received any goods";	The bankruptcy court records show that GED owes its distributors nearly \$200,000 worth of undelivered merchandise. They paid in advance and hadn't received any goods.
(5) Floyd Groff had "com- plained about (GED's) business tactics" and had sued GED for \$10,000 claiming that it had failed to deliver merchandise for which he had paid;	Floyd Groff, a 69-year-old retired Baptist missionary from Fort Myers, has taken the company to court de- manding a \$10,000 refund, claiming the company hasn't delivered mer- chandise he bought when he became a distributor in Southwest Florida.
(6) GED had ignored a court order to pay \$10,000 to Mr. Groff;	Groff won the suit and GED was ordered to pay him back \$10,000. It never did.
(7) Alfred G. Larson had resigned as a GED dis- tributor because of GED's failure to deliver merchan- dise for which he had paid;	Alfred G. (Al) Larson, 48, was the GED distributor in Clearwater until last October, when he quit selling the firm's products. "It just got to the point we couldn't get anything delivered from them, and

5

•

What the Notice Stated the Articles Said

(8) GED's products are plagued with inherent defects which ultimately lead to malfunction;

(9) that Leonard Levin unexplainedly "borrowed more than \$158,000" from GED and another corporation;

(10) that the closing of a GED distributorship precludes customers from "receiving authorized dealer maintenance and repair work under General Energy Devices' promised 10-year guarantee for its products";

(11) that GED, through its president, had lied to the Florida Attorney General's

Text of the Articles

you could get the same performance from other manufacturers' products at a lower price," said Larson.

No similar language appears in the story.

Levin, according to the records, borrowed more than \$158,000 from National Automotive and GED during a period beginning in November 1977 and ending last October.

None of the loans was explained in the court records.

Now that Clark's company has vanished, customers have no way of receiving authorized dealer maintenance and repair work under General Energy Devices' promised 10-year guarantee for its products.

Hodges also accused GED of lying to the state Attorney General's Office.

What the Notice Stated the Articles Said

Office about a particular customer's satisfaction.

Text of the Articles

"The state of Florida sent me a letter saying they were looking into the matter. I sent back a sworn deposition detailing my complaints. Then I received a letter from the state of Florida that GED had sent them a letter that I was satisfied. I am not satisfied.

Levin's Testimony At Trial²

Levin and GED claimed each of the 11 statements it attributed to the Articles was false. In fact, one (Statement 8) did not appear in the Articles, and the remaining ten were admitted by Levin to be true or substantially true. Thus, Levin himself admitted the check referred to in Statement 1 was returned with the legend "check not good at this time" (R. 1348; App. 14) and that the bank had sued for willful or fraudulent conversion, which was "similar" to "swindle" (R. 1359; App. 25). Respondents' expert conceded "swindle" was accurate terminology (R. 1841-1842). Statements 2, 3 and 4, none of which refer to Levin, and none of which defame GED, a corporation in Chapter 11, were all admitted to be true by Levin (R. 1353-1355, 1358-1361; App. 17-19, 22-25). Statements 5 and 6 were also admitted by Levin (R. 1364-1366; App. 28-30).

^{2.} While the entire decision was certified to this Court, and the Record contains substantially more evidence with which to show no falsity was proven, the *Tribune* has not presented the remainder because of the special nature of this appellate proceeding, and notes its counsel ably argued this in the briefs below.

When confronted with Statement 7, Levin said he did not know whether it was true or false. Statement 8 did not appear in the Articles. Levin admitted the \$158,000 in loans referred to in Statement 9 (R. 1373; App. 37). Statement 10 says nothing about Levin and nothing defamatory about GED. Statement 11, the final statement, makes no references to Levin, and Levin admitted he did not know whether in fact Hodges said what was reported he said to the Attorney General (R. 1377; App. 41).

Application Of The Negligence Standard And The Damages Instructions

The trial judge authorized recovery for proof of simple negligence, instructing the jurors they could return a compensatory damage award if the *Tribune* or its employees "were negligent in publishing the matter complained of" (R. 2539; App. 59). The trial judge also instructed the jury it could award punitive damages if the *Tribune* "acted maliciously", meaning publishing a false statement "with the knowledge of its falsity or with reckless disregard of its truth or falsity" (R. 2542; App. 62). The court also permitted recovery of presumed damages.³

The Verdict, Judgment, And The Second District's Decision

The jury returned separate verdicts for Levin and GED. The jury also answered special interrogatories in which they found the *Tribune* had committed no "malicious" act (R. 2518-2519; App. 79-80). Thus, although there was no malice by the *Tribune* (meaning no common law "express malice" and no constitutional "actual malice", that

^{3.} After the Supreme Court's decision in Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc., 418 U.S. 323, 349 (1974), there can be no lawful recovery for presumed damage. The trial judge permitted it here nevertheless (R. 2541-2542; App. 61-62, 64).

is, "knowing or reckless falsehood") the jury awarded GED, a corporation in Chapter 11 with no demonstrable losses or injury, \$250,000 in punitive damages. They also awarded Levin \$100,000 and GED \$280,000 in compensatory damages, although there was no credible evidence at trial of how GED was or could have been harmed by the Articles. The trial judge struck the punitive damage award, but entered a final judgment on the \$380,000 and both sides unsuccessfully appealed. In affirming the trial judge, and noting the certification by the Third District in Miami Herald Publishing Company v. Ane, 423 So.2d 376 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), the Second District certified its decision in this case to this Court:

We certify to the Supreme Court that our decision approving that same standard of negligence as a basis for recovery by private individuals in defamation actions is an issue of "great public importance."

Thus, the Second District has certified to this Court a decision in which a jury applying a negligence standard for liability awarded a bankrupt corporation whose creditors received fifteen cents on the dollar and its president, a man involved with a SEC consent decree, two other bankruptcies, and a plea of guilty to criminal charges, \$380,000 in compensatory damages for defamation.

ISSUE BEFORE THIS COURT

The issue before this Court is:

WHAT DEGREE OF "FAULT" SHOULD BE RE-QUIRED OF A PERSON, WHO IS NEITHER A "PUB-LIC OFFICIAL" NOR A "PUBLIC FIGURE" SUING THE PRESS FOR PUBLICATION OF A DEFAMA-TORY FALSEHOOD WHICH INJURES THAT PER-SON AND WHICH RELATES TO A MATTER OF REAL PUBLIC OR GENERAL CONCERN.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD HOLD THAT WHERE A PERSON SUES THE PRESS FOR PUBLISHING A DEFAMATORY FALSEHOOD IN CONNECTION WITH A MATTER OF REAL PUBLIC OR GENERAL CONCERN, THAT PERSON MUST PROVE THE PUBLISHER EITHER KNEW THE STATEMENT WAS FALSE AT THE TIME OF PUBLICATION OR PUBLISHED WITH RECKLESS DISREGARD OF THE STATEMENT'S TRUTH OR FALSITY.

- I. ADOPTION OF A NEGLIGENCE STANDARD WOULD BE INCONSISTENT WITH FREE SPEECH AND FLORIDA'S COMMITMENT TO ROBUST EXPRESSION
 - A. While Appropriate To Some Torts, Negligence Is Inappropriate In A Speech Context Because It Would Protect Only "Reasonable Speech", Not "Free Speech".

While negligence has been usefully employed in adjudicating certain legal controversies, most notably those involving physical torts, it is unsuitable in cases relating to speech or expression. Although society is willing to countenance only "reasonable drivers" or "reasonable manufacturers", such is not the case with speech and speakers. Our society cherishes and nurtures the "unreasonable speaker". As a society, we can accept some drivers not driving, and some machines not being manufactured in order to steer clear of liability for unreasonable conduct. But the danger in encouraging a policy of "steering clear" with regard to expression is that the flow of information to the public would be constricted. We, as a society, "are less willing to have [free speech] inhibited. It is a special kind of activity in our society. That, in brief, is what the traditions of the First Amendment are all about - a special sensitivity to the risks of inhibiting communication activity and services." Kalven, The Reasonable Man and the First Amendment, 1967 SUP.CT.REV. 267, 301 (1967).

When "properly viewed, there is in the world of the First Amendment no place for 'the reasonable prudent man'". Kalven, *supra* at 303. By its nature, a negligence standard protects only speech uttered by "reasonable prudent men" - the reasonableness of which is determined much later by a "finder" of "fact". As Justice Douglas once noted concerning the imposition of such "reasonable" restrictions, "I fear that it may well be the reasonable man who refrains from speaking." *Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc.*, 418 U.S. 323, 360 (1974) (Douglas, J., dissenting).

B. A Negligence Standard Is Inimical To Florida's Commitment To Wide-Open And Robust Expression.

It has always been the policy of Florida to foster open discussion relating to public issues. Our public records,⁴ meetings,⁵ and courts⁶ are all as open as any in America. The commitment of this State, and the promise of New York Times v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254 (1964), is to the unfettered discussion of public issues, not simply public officials. Gibson v. Maloney, 231 So.2d 823, 826 (Fla. 1970), quoting New York Times v. Sullivan.

· *****

^{4.} Chapter 119, Fla. Stat.

^{5.} Section 286.011, Fla. Stat.

^{6.} The Miami Herald Publishing Company v. Lewis, 7 Fla.L.W. 385, So.2d (Case No. 59,392, Sept. 2, 1982); Chandler v. Florida, 366 So.2d 64 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), cert. denied 376 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 1979), affirmed 449 U.S. 560 (1981).

Moreover, Florida courts have long recognized Florida's interest in informing its citizens on public matters through the free dissemination of news. As this Court noted in Ross v. Gore, 48 So.2d 412 (Fla. 1950) (en banc):

The public has an interest in the free dissemination of news. This interest was well stated by that great American, Thomas Jefferson, in the following words: "The only security of all is in a free press. . ."

... since the preservation of our American democracy depends upon the public's receiving information speedily—particularly upon getting news on pending matters while there still is time for public opinion to form and be felt—it is vital that no unreasonable restraints be placed upon the working news reporter or the editorial writer.

48 So.2d at 415. Most recently, the Third District in *Miami Herald Publishing Company v. Ane*, 423 So.2d 376 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) (hereafter "*Ane*"), observed "that the constitutional free press and free speech guarantees at stake in this area of law are absolute preconditions to a free society and deserve the most vigilant and wide ranging protection" and recognized the need for newspapers "to sustain an enlightened, informed citizenry." 423 So.2d at 386.

Adoption of the negligence standard would frustrate Florida's long-standing commitment to free speech and a free press, and in fact will generate a "chilling" effect on expression alien to Florida's traditional solicitude for freedom of expression and robust debate of public issues. Florida courts over the years have adopted many absolute and qualified privileges which afford various types of speech and speakers protection for negligent and even deliberate defamatory misstatements of fact. See, Section

II-A, *infra*. With a negligence rule, news articles relating to matters of general or public importance would become the least protected speech under Florida law. *See*, Sections II-C, IV-B, *infra*.

C. A Negligence Standard Would Discourage Diversity Of Expression And Impose An Orthodoxy Of Expression.

A negligence standard establishes a "reasonable manreasonable speech" standard which is contrary to our commitment to expression by speakers with divergent, unpopular, or unorthodox points of view and to publications which "take a side", or take a risk to inform the public. Our society is committed to a plurality of speech, the encouragement of the disbeliever and the dissenter, and the toleration of the unorthodox. It is a *free* press to which we are committed, not a *fair* or *reasonable* press. *Miami Herald Publishing Company v*. *Tornillo*, 418 U.S. 241 (1974).

The reasonable speech standard leaves for juries the decision of what speech is acceptable, and would involve jury "guesstimates" as to what proper conventional mainstream journalists would do under the circumstances of the cases presented to them. Juries will, as they normally do, judge on the basis of what is normal or reasonable. The negligence standard is designed to have juries do just that - identify the norm and then apply it. Undeniably, that process is appropriate for common torts where no constitutional freedom is involved. But defamation is different. Freedom of speech and the press exist to protect abnormal speech, speech the majority may not like. Speech must not be governed by an orthodoxy standard:

A "responsible publishers" standard would discriminate unjustifiably against media or outlets whose

philosophies and methods deviate from those of the mainstream. Fundamental disagreements exist within the profession concerning what constitutes responsible journalism. The conventional view is that a "responsible" journalist must strive to separate fact from opinion, and to report the former "objectively"; a significant segment of the profession now maintains that to avoid taking a position is irresponsible. . . . Although some deplore extensive editorial secondguessing and advocate maximum freedom for individual writers, others view the best journalism as a team effort by reporters, writers, and editors. . . . Some press outlets feel a responsibility to suppress items whose veracity they are unable to ascertain, but others assert that the press has no more right than the government to deny information to the public unless it is demonstrably false.

Anderson, Libel and Press Censorship, 53 TEXAS L. REV. 422, 455-456 (1975).

D. A Negligence Standard Would Produce Self-Censorship And Constrict The Flow Of Information And Ideas To And Through The Public.

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