## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE TRIBUNE COMPANY; PAUL HOGAN; JOSEPH REGISTRATO; and WILLIAM SLOAT,

Petitioners,

vs.

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

#### ARGUMENT

- I. THE COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO REVIEW THE SECOND DISTRICT'S OPINION.
  - A. This Court May Decline Review of Decisions Certified Under Appellate Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v).

Petitioners seek to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. Although separate briefs on jurisdiction are not permitted in such cases, Rule 9.120(d), it is axiomatic that the "discretionary" nature of the Court's jurisdictional grant permits the Court to decline to pass upon the merits of such a petition.

Respondents do not suggest that the Court should decline to review certified issues without just cause. Respondents do suggest that when, as here, an issue has been improvidently certified and the same issue is properly before the Court in another proceeding, the Court should exercise its discretion by declining to review the decision below.

## B. Petitioners' Failure to Raise at Trial The Issue Certified Below Precludes Review By This Court.

The Second District Court of Appeal certified to this Court as an issue of "great public importance" their adoption of a negligence standard as the appropriate basis for recovery by private individuals in defamation actions (R.A. 1-4).

The Second District reasoned that the Tribune "should have the same opportunity" to raise this issue as was granted to the Miami Herald by the Third District in the Ane proceeding. Respondents respectfully suggest that the record of this case clearly requires a contrary conclusion: the Tribune does not deserve that opportunity because it was the Tribune itself which proposed that a negligence standard be applied to non-public figure plaintiffs in this defamation action. The record of the jury charge conference is unmistakably clear on this issue.

Immediately prior to that conference, counsel argued the "public figure" issue in the trial judge's chambers (R.2411-2449). Counsel for the Tribune asserted that GED and Levin were public figures and that, for that reason, the jury should have been instructed to apply an "actual malice" standard. During the course of that argument, counsel for the Tribune, attorney Rodgers, agreed that the actual malice standard did not apply to non-public figures:

. . .but the [Supreme] Court receded from. . . Rosenbloom and got back on just a pure public figure situation. . .I am saying they [Levin and GED] have attained - they had already attained a public figure status with respect to the subject matter of these articles.

(R.A.8, 10).

The trial judge rejected the Tribune's argument that Levin and GED were limited purpose public figures and ruled that they were private, non-public figure plaintiffs (R.A.10). Immediately after that determination, argument was heard upon the parties' proposed jury instructions. The Tribune conceded that the negligence standard was appropriate in view of Judge Sanderlin's ruling that the plaintiffs were not public figures. Indeed, it was counsel for the Tribune who actually proposed that the jury be instructed to apply a negligence standard, stating ". . .[t]hat [the instruction on negligence] is the one that should be given." (R.A.16 1.4).

The Tribune had proposed alternative jury instructions, one incorporating a negligence standard (R.376) and one incorporating an actual malice standard (R.377). Counsel for the Tribune referred to these alternative proposals as the "non-public figure" and "public figure" instructions, respectively.

MR. KELLY [Tribune Counsel]: The reason they [defendants' proposed jury instructions] are not numbered is that we

necessarily prepared two sets, not knowing which one would be used. One on the public figure law [actual malice], and one on the non-public fugure law [negligence]. (R.A.14).

\* \* \*

MR. KELLY: The first one is the one that is applicable under the Court's ruling on public figures, which use the term "negligence is failure to use reasonable care."

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. KELLY: That is the one that should be given.

THE COURT: You have two of them here, don't you?

MR. KELLY: Yes, sir. One for public figure and one for non-public figure. The first one is for non-public figure.
"Negligence is the failure to use reasonable care." (R.A.15-16) (Emphasis supplied.)

Ultimately, the trial judge approved (R.A.15) the Tribune's Requested Jury Instruction Number 1 (R.376) and instructed the jury that GED and Levin could recover upon proof of negligent defamation by the Tribune (R.2539).

The issue certified for discretionary review is, in reality, a challenge to the propriety of the trial judge's charge on the negligence standard. The Tribune raised this challenge for the first time on appeal. The most pain-staking search of the trial record will reveal not a single argument, not a single suggestion by the Tribune, that non-public figure plaintiffs are required to prove actual malice

in order to recover in a libel action.

Respondents respectfully suggest that because this issue was never raised at trial, because the petitioners actually proposed at trial the instruction which they now claim as error, the propriety of the negligence standard was not preserved as an appealable issue; as such, it was not properly before the Second District Court of Appeal and certainly is not proper for discretionary review by this Court. This Court has on many occasions held that issues not raised in a timely fashion are not preserved for apelpellate review. In re Beverly, 342 So.2d 481, 489 (Fla. 1977); Mariani v. Schleman, 94 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1957); Jones v. Neibergall, 47 So.2d 605 (Fla. 1950); Hartford Fire Insurance Co. v. Hollis, 58 Fla. 268, 50 So. 985 (1909).

Contrary to the belief of the Second District, the petitioners should not be granted "the same opportunity" as the petitioner in Ane, for, unlike the Miami Herald in that case, the Tribune seeks review of an issue not raised below.  $\frac{6}{}$  As is unrebuttably demonstrated above, the Tribune proposed that the jury receive the very negligence instruction now challenged as error.

Rather than resembling the Ane case, the instant proceeding is similar to Karp v. Miami Herald Publishing Co., 359 So.2d 580 (Fla.3d DCA 1980), and Helton v. United Press International, 303 So.2d 650 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974) in that, as is those proceedings, the standard of fault applicable to non-public figure plaintiffs was not at issue.

Respondents are of the view that the issue certified has already been decided by this Court (see Section III. below). If, however, the Court wishes to clarify once and for all the law of Florida in this area, the appropriate vehicle for doing so is the Ane case, a case in which the negligence - actual malice controversy was raised at trial and is therefore properly before the Court. The Tribune's failure to raise that issue in a timely fashion requires this Court to decline to review the instant petition.

II. BECAUSE THE ARTICLES DID NOT RELATE TO A MATTER OF PUBLIC OR GENERAL CONCERN, PETITIONERS' ARGUMENTS ARE WITHOUT EFFECT.

Petitioners assert that an actual malice standard should be applied in those defamation cases in which the plaintiff is not a public figure and the subject of the challenged publication is a matter of public or general concern. Even under petitioners' hypothesis, then, the negligence standard is appropriate in those situations in which the matter complained of does not relate to a matter of public or general concern. If the subject of the Tribune's articles was not a matter of public or general concern, then the underpinning for each of the Tribune's arguments collapses, rendering those arguments inapposite and requiring affirmance of the opinion of the Second District.

One would suppose that an issue so central to petitioners' position would be briefed in some detail. In this case, however, one finds that petitioners, without basis in fact or law, have merely assumed that the Tribune's articles reported matters of public or general concern. The only "discussion" of this issue is found on pages 2 and 3 of the Initial Brief. In fact, that "discussion" is a conclusory assertion unsupported by citation to the record.

This lack of record support is not surprising, however, for the "public or general concern" issue was never raised by petitioners at trial. Although this Court ruled, in applying the since rejected Rosenbloom v. Metromedia, Inc., 403 U.S. 29 (1971) constitutional standard, that this issue was a matter of law to be determined by the court, Firestone v. Time, Inc., 271 So.2d 745, 751 (Fla. 1972), petitioners at no time requested such a ruling from the trial judge. Indeed, the only even remotely relevant ruling was Judge Sanderlin's determination that neither Levin nor GED had injected themselves into any public controversy (R.A.13).

The fact of the matter is that no controversy, public or private, ever existed. Even a cursory review of the articles requires the conclusion that they are not a report

<sup>7/</sup> Respondents would note once again that, unlike the Third District in Ane, the Second District has made no finding with respect to the public interest or concern in the subject of the Tribune articles.

on the solar industry, but rather a vicious attack upon a small Clearwater company and its president. There is no record evidence of public interest or concern in GED. The evidence which is on the record leads to the contrary conclusion. Editor Registrato had never heard of either GED or Levin prior to reporter Sloat's article (R.1107, 1146). Sloat himself, who, immediately prior to joining the Tribune staff on May 14, 1979, had reported on business news in the southeast as Associate Editor for Tampa-based South magazine (R.664-665), testified that he too had never heard of Levin or GED prior to the development of his story (R.672-673, 910).

How was it, then, that this matter of assertedly public interest and concern came to light? The record reveals that, while perusing the files at the United States Bank-ruptcy Court in Tampa, Sloat stumbled upon a Chapter 11 reorganization petition which had been filed by GED some five months earlier in December, 1980 (R.666-667).

In ruling that the celebrated Firestone divorce, which had received national media coverage throughout its eighteen month course, was <u>not</u> a matter of public interest or concern under Rosenbloom, this Court stated:

We either must determine when or at what point the private activities of a public or prominent figure become the real concern of the public; or alternatively, we must determine when conduct, or an event or series of events, or an historical occurrence or happening, or other noteworthy and recordable occasion, involves a subject of true concern.

In either case, we think that as a workable test the question is whether there is a <u>logical relationship</u> between the reported activities of the prominent person, or between the subject matter of the conduct, occasion or event reported or recorded, and the real concern of the public.

## Firestone, 271 So.2d at 751.

Judge Sanderlin's ruling on the public figure issue, combined with the absence of a finding of public concern by the Second District and the record evidence cited above, require the conclusion that nothing on the record of this case even suggests that there was a logical relationship between the subject matter of the articles, an unknown entrepreneur and his business, and the real concern of the Thus, even if petitioners succeed in convincing the Court that an actual malice standard should be applied in cases involving reports on matters of public or general concern, such a standard was not appropriate in this case. While the mere fact of publication presumably indicates that the Tribune considered the articles newsworthy, not all newsworthy items rise to a level of public interest or Firestone, 271 So.2d at 752. Were it not so, the press, by choosing what to report and what not to report, could alone determine that with which the public should be concerned.

Because there is no basis in the record for determining that the Tribune's articles reported upon matters of true public concern, this Court must affirm the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal.

- III. EXISTING FLORIDA LAW REQUIRED THE APPLICATION OF A NEGLIGENCE STANDARD IN THE INSTANT PROCEEDING.
  - A. This Court Has Already Adopted A Negligence Standard For Non-Public Figure Plaintiffs.

When the <u>Firestone</u> case was decided by this Court for the first time in 1972, it was presumed that, pursuant to the Supreme Court's plurality opinion in <u>Rosenbloom v.</u>

<u>Metromedia, Inc.</u>, the <u>New York Times</u> "actual malice" standard should be applied to challenges to publications reporting upon matters of public interest or concern. <u>Firestone</u>, 271 So.2d at 748. This Court determined that the "Milestones" column in <u>Time</u> magazine had <u>not</u> reported upon a matter of public interest or concern. Thus, it was held that the actual malice standard did not apply and the matter was remanded to the District Court. The District Court subsequently adhered to its original position reversing the judgment for plaintiff.

The matter reappeared in this Court in 1974, after the Supreme Court's opinion in Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc., 418

U.S. 323, 94 S.Ct. 2997, 41 L.Ed.2d 789 (1974). 8/ This Court again reversed the District Court and, on that occasion, ordered that the jury verdict in plaintiff's favor be reinstated. Firestone v. Time, Inc., 305 So.2d 172 (Fla. 1974). In its opinion, the Court specifically recognized the Supreme Court's Gertz opinion, 305 So.2d at 176-178, and determined that Time had acted negligently.

Furthermore, this erroneous reporting is clear and convincing evidence of the negligence in certain segments of the news media in gathering the news. Gertz v. Welch, Inc., supra. . . This is a flagrant example of "journalistic negligence."

Firestone, 305 So.2d at 178.

The case then made its way to the United States Supreme Court where this Court's order was vacated. Time, Inc. v. Firestone, 424 U.S. 448, 96 S.Ct. 958, 47 L.Ed.2d 154 (1976). The Supreme Court reasoned that, because no factfinder, i.e., the trial judge or the jury, had found the defendants at fault, the Gertz requirement had not been met. This Court then remanded the matter to the Circuit Court for

In Gertz, the Court abandoned the "matter of public interest" standard in favor of a "public figure" analysis. After Gertz, the United States Constitution no longer required an actual malice standard to be applied to non-public figure plaintiffs challenging reports on matters of public interest. The Constitution did, however, preclude recovery for defamation in the absence of proof that the defendants were at fault.

Tribune, the Herald nor the Florida Press Association has demonstrated that the number of Florida newspapers has declined for that reason in that period of time. Perhaps more telling is the fact that, in the years prior to Gertz, when Florida plaintiffs (except public figures since 1964) were not required to offer any proof of fault, the number of Florida newspapers apparently did not decline.

Secondly, although we are told of the misfortune of a small newspaper in Illinois (I.B.28),  $\frac{13}{}$  we are not advised of the adverse economic impact of a negligence standard in the twenty-eight jurisdictions having adopted such a measure of fault. The plain fact is that while the number of small, independently-owned newspapers is shrinking, that shrinkage has nothing whatsoever to do with the standard of fault to which the press is held in defamation actions brought by non-public figure plaintiffs. This phenomenon is perhaps best described by Chief Justice Burger:

Newspapers have become big business and there are far fewer of them to serve a larger literate population. Chains of newspapers, national newspapers, national wire and news services, and one-newspaper towns, are the dominant features of a press that has become noncompetitive and enormously powerful and influen-

<sup>13/</sup> Note that the Alton <u>Telegraph</u> has not gone out of business, but rather is seeking to reorganize under Chapter 11 of the Federal Bankruptcy Code.

further proceedings not inconsistent with the United States Supreme Court's opinion. <u>Firestone v. Time, Inc.</u>, 332 So.2d 68 (Fla. 1976).

What emerges from the various opinions in the <u>Firestone</u> proceeding is the fact that, in 1974, after <u>Rosenbloom</u> and <u>Gertz</u>, this Court reinstated a jury verdict for Mrs. Firestone, a non-public figure, upon a finding that <u>Time</u> magazine had been guilty of negligence.

Since that opinion, Florida's trial courts have reasonably assumed that the negligence standard applies to defamation cases involving non-public figure plaintiffs. Indeed, much of the defense bar, including defense counsel in this case, Karp, Helton and Gadsden County-Times, Inc. v. Horne, 382 So.2d 347 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980), has assumed that the negligence standard was adopted by this Court in Firestone.

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